No. 45056-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Justin McPherson,

Appellant.

Lewis County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-00216-1 The Honorable Judge Nelson E. Hunt

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. McPherson's conviction for residential burglary violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
- 2. The state introduced insufficient evidence to prove residential burglary.
- 3. The state failed to prove that Mr. McPherson entered or unlawfully remained in a dwelling.
- 4. The state failed to prove that the jewelry store was a building or structure, or a portion thereof, which is used or ordinarily used by a person for lodging.

ISSUE 1: Conviction for residential burglary requires proof that the accused entered or unlawfully remained in a building or portion of a building used for lodging. Here, the state presented evidence that Mr. McPherson burglarized a jewelry store. Was there insufficient evidence to convict Mr. McPherson of residential burglary?

- 5. Mr. McPherson was convicted through the operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.
- 6. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on "words" or "encouragement" spoken with knowledge but without intent to promote or facilitate a crime.
- 7. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on "words" or "encouragement" even absent proof that the speech is likely to incite imminent lawless action.
- 8. The trial judge erred by giving Instruction No. 11, which defined accomplice liability to include mere advocacy, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

ISSUE 2: A statute is unconstitutional if it criminalizes speech without proof that the speaker intended to incite imminent crime. The accomplice liability statute criminalizes speech

made with knowledge that it will facilitate or promote commission of a crime, even if the speaker lacked the intent to incite imminent lawless action, and even if the speech was unlikely to incite imminent lawless action. Is the accomplice liability statute unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Frederick Sawlesky owns a jewelry shop in Centralia. He also owns the building the jewelry shop is in. An antique store adjoins the jewelry shop on one side. On the other side is a vacant storefront. Each shop has its own entry. RP 47-50.

Above the jewelry shop is a small apartment. There is a door at the bottom of the stairs, and another at the top of the stairs. These doors are flimsy and don't lock. The only way into the apartment is through the jewelry shop, through two doors and up the stairs. RP 20-23, 44, 67, 68. Frederick Sawlesky's son Jeremy lived in the apartment, and also worked in the jewelry shop. RP 20.

During the early morning hours of March 20, 2013, there was a break in at the jewelry shop. A hole was made in the wall from the vacant shop next door. The hole made it possible for the perpetrator to grab the jewelry. RP 31-35, Jeremy Sawlesky heard noise, went down, and fired twice at the person he saw. RP 28, 29, 31. He did not see the burglars' faces. RP 28-30. He only saw a person going back through the hole in the wall. RP 30-31.

Police identified Justin McPherson as a suspect, and he was eventually charged with residential burglary, second-degree burglary, and malicious mischief.¹ CP 1-3.

At trial, the defense argued that the apartment above the shop did not make the shop into a residence, and that the state could not prove that Mr. McPherson was involved in the burglaries. RP 451-466.

The trial court gave a standard accomplice instruction. CP 44; WPIC 10.51. The jury returned verdicts of guilty. After sentencing, Mr. McPherson timely appealed. CP 4-14, 15-25.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. McPherson of residential burglary.

A. Standard of Review.

A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Chouinard*, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1003, 297 P.3d 67 (2013).

¹ One count of burglary was for the entry to the jewelry shop, and the other was for the entry into the vacant shop next door. RP 423-424.

B. No rational trier of fact could have found Mr. McPherson guilty of residential burglary beyond a reasonable doubt.

To find a person guilty of residential burglary, a jury must find that s/he "enter[ed] or unlawfully remain[ed] in a dwelling other than a vehicle." RCW 9A.52.025. "Dwelling" is defined as "any building or structure, though movable or temporary, or a portion thereof, which is used or ordinarily used by a person for lodging." RCW 9A.04.110.

Under the statute, a dwelling "may be a building or structure used for lodging, or it may be any portion of a building where the portion is used for lodging." State v. Neal, 161 Wn. App. 111, 114, 249 P.3d 211 (2011) (emphasis added). Thus, for example, Quasimodo's home in the organ loft of Notre Dame does not convert the entire cathedral into a dwelling. *Id.* A person who burglarized the loft would be guilty of residential burglary, but one who burglarized some other part of the cathedral would not. *Id.* This is assuming that French burglary law is the same as Washington's. *Id.*

Mr. McPherson allegedly burglarized a jewelry store. RP 20-41. The store is not used for lodging, and thus is not a dwelling. RCW 9A.04.110. The building as a whole is not used for lodging, even though it does have an apartment. Just as Quasimodo's loft does not convert the entire cathedral into a dwelling, the fact that there was an apartment

upstairs does not turn the commercial space into a dwelling. *Neal*, 161 Wn. App. at 114.

No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. McPherson entered or unlawfully remained in a dwelling. *Chouinard*, 169 Wn. App. at 899. Insufficient evidence requires reversal of his residential burglary convictions. *Id*.

II. THE ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY STATUTE IS OVERBROAD BECAUSE IT CRIMINALIZES CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED SPEECH IN VIOLATION OF THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

A. Standard of Review.

Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Lynch*, 87882-0, 2013 WL 5310164, --- Wn.2d --- (2013). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Kirwin*, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P.3d 1044 (2009). Free speech challenges are different from most constitutional challenges to statutes; under the First Amendment, the state bears the burden of justifying a restriction on speech.² *State v. Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d 1, 6, 267 P.3d 305 (2011).

6

² Ordinarily, the burden is on the party challenging the statute to show beyond a reasonable doubt that it is unconstitutional. *Washington Off-Highway Vehicle Alliance v. State*, 163 Wn. App. 722, 733, 260 P.3d 956 (2011) *review granted*, 173 Wn.2d 1013, 272 P.3d 247 (2012) (Off-Highway Vehicle Alliance I) and *aff'd sub nom. Washington Off Highway Vehicle Alliance v. State*, 176 Wn.2d 225, 290 P.3d 954 (2012) (Off Highway Vehicle Alliance II).

B. Any person accused of violating an overbroad statute may challenge the constitutionality of the statute on First Amendment grounds.

The First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution provides that "Congress shall make no law... abridging the freedom of speech." U.S. Const. Amend. I. This provision is applicable to the states through the action of the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Adams v. Hinkle*, 51 Wn.2d 763, 768, 322 P.2d 844 (1958) (collecting cases).³ A statute is overbroad if it sweeps within its prohibitions a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech or conduct. *Immelt*, 173 Wn.2d at 6-7. Anyone accused of violating such a statute may bring an overbreadth challenge; she or he need not have engaged in constitutionally protected activity or speech. *Id* at 33.

An overbreadth challenge will prevail even if the statute could constitutionally be applied to the accused. *Id.* In other words, "[f]acts are not essential for consideration of a facial challenge...on First Amendment grounds." *City of Seattle v. Webster*, 115 Wn.2d 635, 640, 802 P.2d 1333 (1990), *cert. denied*, 500 U.S. 908, 111 S.Ct. 1690, 114 L.Ed.2d 85 (1991).

³ Washington's constitution gives similar protection: "Every person may freely speak, write and publish on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right." Wash. Const. art. I, § 5.

The First Amendment overbreadth doctrine is thus an exception to the general rule regarding the standards for facial challenges. U.S. Const. Amend. I; *Virginia v. Hicks*, 539 U.S. 113, 118, 156 L.Ed.2d 148, 123 S.Ct. 2191 (2003). Instead of applying the general rule for facial challenges, "[t]he Supreme Court has 'provided this expansive remedy out of concern that the threat of enforcement of an overbroad law may deter or "chill" constitutionally protected speech—especially when the overbroad statute imposes criminal sanctions." *United States v. Platte*, 401 F.3d 1176, 1188 (10th Cir. 2005) (quoting *Hicks*, 539 U.S. at 119); *see also Conchatta Inc. v. Miller*, 458 F.3d 258, 263 (3rd Cir. 2006).

Mr. McPherson's jury was instructed on accomplice liability. CP 44. Accordingly, Mr. McPherson is entitled to bring a challenge to the accomplice liability statute, regardless of the facts of his case. *Hicks*, 539 U.S. at 118-119; *Webster*, 115 Wn.2d at 640.

C. A person may not be convicted for speech absent proof of intent to promote or facilitate a crime; the First Amendment prohibits conviction based on proof of mere knowledge.

The First Amendment protects speech advocating criminal activity: "[t]he mere tendency of speech to encourage unlawful acts is not a sufficient reason for banning it." *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coal.*, 535 U.S. 234, 253, 122 S.Ct. 1389, 152 L.Ed.2d 403 (2002). Because of this, speech advocating criminal activity may only be punished if it "is directed"

to inciting or producing imminent lawless action and is likely to incite or produce such action." *Brandenburg v. Ohio*, 395 U.S. 444, 447, 23 L.Ed.2d 430, 89 S.Ct. 1827 (1969). This standard requires proof of intent; knowledge is insufficient. *See, e.g., United States v. Freeman*, 761 F.2d 549, 552 (9th Cir. 1985).

In *Freeman*, the defendant was convicted of counseling others to violate the tax laws. Some of his convictions were reversed because the trial court failed to instruct the jury on the *Brandenburg* standard:

[A]n instruction based upon the First Amendment should have been given to the jury. As the crime is one proscribed only if done willfully, the jury should have been charged that the expression was protected unless both the intent of the speaker and the tendency of his words was to produce or incite an imminent lawless act, one likely to occur.

Freeman, 761 F.2d at 552 (citing Brandenburg).4

Accomplice liability in Washington does not require proof of intent. The accomplice statute (RCW 9A.08.020) is unconstitutionally overbroad because it criminalizes speech protected by the First Amendment.

Under RCW 9A.08.020, a person may be convicted as an accomplice for speaking "[w]ith knowledge" that the speech "will

⁴ The court affirmed two of the convictions, finding that the "intent of the [defendant] and the objective meaning of the words used [were] so close in time and purpose to a substantive evil as to become part of the ultimate crime itself." *Freeman*,761 F.2d at 552.

promote or facilitate the commission of the crime." RCW 9A.08.020; WPIC 10.51.⁵ The statute does not require proof of intent, nor does it require any evidence regarding the likelihood that the words will produce imminent lawless action. RCW 9A.08.020. This interpretation criminalizes a vast amount of pure speech protected by the First Amendment, and runs afoul of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Brandenburg*.

Thus, for example, Washington's accomplice liability statute would criminalize the speech protected by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Hess v. Indiana*, 414 U.S. 105, 107, 94 S.Ct. 326, 38 L.Ed.2d 303 (1973) ("We'll take the fucking street later [or 'again']"), in *Ashcroft* (virtual child pornography found to encourage actual child pornography), and *Brandenburg* itself (speech "advocat(ing) * * * the duty, necessity, or propriety of crime, sabotage, violence, or unlawful methods of terrorism as a means of accomplishing industrial or political reform'") (quoting Ohio Rev. Code Ann. s 2923.13). Each of these cases involved words or encouragement made with knowledge that the words or encouragement would promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, yet the U.S.

⁵ The statute uses the word "aid," which Washington courts have interpreted to include "words" or "encouragement." RCW 9A.08.020; see WPIC 10.51.

Supreme Court found this speech—which would be criminal under RCW 9A.08.020—to be protected by the First Amendment.

It is possible to construe the accomplice statute in such a way that it does not reach constitutionally protected speech and conduct. Indeed, the U.S. Supreme Court has formulated appropriate language for such a construction in *Brandenburg*. However, such a construction has yet to be imposed. The prevailing construction—as expressed in WPIC 10.51 and adopted by the trial court in Instruction No. 11—is overbroad; therefore, RCW 9A.08.020 is unconstitutional. *Id*.

Mr. McPherson's convictions must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. *Id.* Upon retrial, the state may not proceed on any theory of accomplice liability. *Id.*

D. The *Coleman* court applied the wrong legal standard in upholding RCW 9A.08.020, and should be reconsidered in light of established U.S. Supreme Court precedent.

The Court of Appeals has upheld Washington's accomplice liability statute. *State v. Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. 951, 231 P.3d 212 (2010) *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 772 (2011); *see also State v. Ferguson*, 164 Wn. App. 370, 264 P.3d 575 (2011). In *Coleman*, Division I concluded that the statute's *mens rea* requirement resulted in a statute that "avoids protected speech activities that are not performed in

aid of a crime and that only consequentially further the crime." *Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. at 960-961 (citations omitted).

This is incorrect for three reasons.

First, in Washington, accomplice liability can be premised on speech made with *knowledge* that it will facilitate the crime, even if the speaker lacks the *intent* to facilitate the crime. RCW 9A.08.020; *see* WPIC 10.51. *Coleman's* use of the phrase "in aid of" implies an intent requirement that is lacking from the statute and the pattern instruction. Under *Brandenburg*, the First Amendment protects speech made with knowledge but without intent to facilitate crime. Washington accomplice law directly contravenes this requirement.

Second, the First Amendment protects much more than speech "that only consequentially further[s] the crime." *Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. at 960-961 (citations omitted). The state cannot criminalize mere advocacy⁷—even if the words are spoken "in aid of a crime." *Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. at 960-961. Words spoken "in aid of a crime" are protected unless "directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless action" and "likely to incite or produce such action." *Brandenburg*, 395 U.S. at 447;

⁶ In Ferguson, Division II court adopted the reasoning set forth in Coleman.

⁷ Hess, 414 U.S. at 108.

cf. Coleman, 155 Wn. App. at 960-961. Even if the statute required proof of intent, it would remain unconstitutional unless it also required proof that the speech was likely to produce imminent lawless action.

Speech that "encourage[s] unlawful acts" is protected, unless it falls within the narrow category outlined by *Brandenburg. Ashcroft*, 535 U.S. at 253. The state cannot ban speech made with knowledge that it will promote a crime. Nor can it ban speech made with intent to promote the commission of a crime, unless the speech is (1) made with intent to incite or produce "imminent lawless action" and (2) "likely to incite or produce such action." *Brandenburg*, 395 U.S. at 447.

Third, the *Coleman* court applied the wrong legal standard in evaluating the statute. The U.S. Supreme Court has drawn "vital distinctions between words and deeds, between ideas and conduct." *Ashcroft, 535* U.S. at 253. The accomplice liability statute reaches pure speech: "words" and "encouragement" are sufficient for conviction, if spoken with the appropriate knowledge. *See* WPIC 10.51; CP 44. Because the statute reaches pure speech, it *cannot* be analyzed under the more lenient First Amendment tests for statutes regulating conduct.

But the *Coleman* court ignored this distinction. Specifically, the *Coleman* court relied on cases dealing with laws regulating behavior. The court began its analysis by noting that "[a] statute which regulates

behavior, and not pure speech, will not be overturned as overbroad unless the challenging party shows the overbreadth is both real and substantial in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." *Coleman,* 155 Wn. App. at 960 (citing *Hicks,* 539 U.S. at 122 and *Webster,* 115 Wn.2d at 641.)

The court then imported the Supreme Court's rationale from *Webster* and applied it to the accomplice liability statute. *Coleman,* 155 Wn. App. at 960-61 (citation omitted).

But *Webster* involved the regulation of *conduct*—obstruction of vehicle or pedestrian traffic—and therefore, the statute could be upheld based on the distinction between "innocent intentional acts which merely consequentially block traffic…" and acts performed with the requisite *mens rea. Webster*, 115 Wn.2d at 641-642.

No such distinction is available here, because the accomplice liability statute reaches pure speech, unaccompanied by any conduct—i.e. speech that knowingly encourages criminal activity, including speech (words or encouragement) that is not directed at and likely to incite imminent lawless action. *See* WPIC 10.51. The First Amendment does not only protect "innocent" speech; it protects free speech, including criminal advocacy directly aimed at encouraging criminal activity, so long as the speech does not fall within the rule set forth in *Brandenburg*.

The *Coleman* court applied the wrong legal standard in upholding the accomplice liability statute. It should have analyzed the statute under *Brandenburg* instead of the test for conduct set forth in *Webster*.

Accordingly, *Coleman* and *Ferguson* should be reconsidered.

CONCLUSION

No rational jury could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. McPherson burglarized a dwelling. The accomplice liability statute criminalizes speech that is protected by the First Amendment. Mr. McPherson's convictions must be reversed.