I. FACTS

The Appellant ( Mr. McPherson) broke into a building where Mr. 

Salewsky lived. The Respondent accepts Appellant' s description of the

building Mr. Salewsky resided in with the following additions: 

Jerry Salewsky, the resident of the building, described the door to

his apartment at the top of the stairs as a thin, 1960' s plywood door. RP

23. The door was just a " door to close if you didn' t want someone to come

through." RP 23. There was no lock on it. RP 23. The door did not shut

very well. RP 45. It had slight damage to it. RP 45. It could have been

shut, but it did not function correctly. RP 45. This door normally stayed

open. RP 45. 

The door at the bottom of the stairs was a door that only " swings." 

RP 23. 

These doors were the only entrance to the apartment. RP 23. The

only way to get to the apartment was through the front door of the jewelry

store, walk through the store, then up the stairs. RP 26 -27. There was no

outside, separate entrance to the apartment. If Salewsky wanted to leave

in the middle of the night, he would walk down the stairs and through the

front door. RP 27. 

The alarm switch for the entire building is right next to the front

door that leaves the building. RP 46. 
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II. ARGUMENT

A. APPELLANT MISAPPLIED STATE V. NEAL. UNDER

STATE V. NEAL, THE ENTIRE BUILDING IS CONSIDERED
A DWELLING IF A PORTION OF IT WAS USED AS A
DWELLING. 

Appellant quotes State v. Neal' but gives no analysis as to why it

is applicable to Mr. McPherson' s case. Neal actually supports the

Respondent' s position that the entire building in this case was a " dwelling" 

as defined in RCW 9A.04. 110( 7). 

In Neal, the defendant broke into a tool room of an apartment

building. State v. Neal, 161 at 112. Neal argued that the part of the

building broken into must be used for lodging in order to be a " dwelling ". 

State v. Neal, 161 at 113. But the Court of Appeals, Division I, used the

plain meaning of the language and the traditional rules of grammar to

interpret RCW 9A.04. 110( 7). State v. Neal, 161 at 113. In so doing, the

court explained why the entire building is a dwelling even if only a portion

of it is used for lodging. The following is the court' s explanation: 

Neal asks that we decline to follow Murbach. 2 He contends it is
inconsistent with the " last antecedent rule." Under that rule, 

qualifying or modifying words and phrases refer to the last
antecedent." Bunker, 169 Wn.2d at 57$. 3 Thus, Neal argues the

lodging requirement must be applied only to the " portion thereof" 
language, and accordingly, it is the " portion" of the building ( in this
case, the tool [ 114] room) that must be used for lodging. But under
the corollary to the last antecedent rule, the presence of a comma

1

State v. Neal, 161 Wn. App. 111, 114, 249 P. 3d 211 ( 2011). 

2 The complete cite to Murbach is: State v. Murbach, 68 Wn. App. 509, 513, 843 P. 2d
551 ( 1993). 

3 The complete cite to Bunker is: State v. Bunker, 169 Wn. 2d 571, 577 -578, 238 P. 3d 487
2010) 
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before the qualifying phrase is evidence the qualifier is intended to

apply to all antecedents instead of only the immediately preceding
one. Bunker, 169 Wn.2d at 578. The application of the corollary
rule leads to the conclusion that a " dwelling" may be a building or
structure used for lodging, or it may be any portion of a building
where the portion is used for lodging." State v. Neal, 161 at

113 -114 ( emphasis added). 

In Murbach, the burglary was of a garage attached to a house. 

Murbach, 68 Wn, App. at 510 -511. The house was used for lodging, the

garage was not. But the garage was a portion of a building used for

lodging, so the court in Murbach found that burglary of the garage was a

residential burglary. Murbach, 68 Wn. App. at 510 -513. 

Likewise, in Neal, the tool room of the apartment complex was not

used for people to lodge in. State v. Neal, 161 at 112 -113. The apartment

building was used for lodging, the tool room was not. But the tool room

was a portion of a building used for lodging, so the court in Neal found the

burglary of the tool room was a residential burglary. State v. Neal, 161 at

115. 

Applying this analysis to McPherson' s case, McPherson broke into

the part of the jewelry store that was not normally used for lodging. 

However, the store was a portion of a building used for lodging. Jeremy

Salewsky lived in the upstairs portion of the building. He actually had to

use the front door of the store as the front door of his apartment. RP 26. 

Once he entered the store, Salewsky had to walk through it to get to the

stairs leading to his apartment. RP 23. There was no other entrance, and

no separate entrance to his apartment. RP 27, He had access to the store
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24 hours a day, whether the store was open for business or not, because

the store was the entrance to his apartment. While there were doors

between the lodging portion and the store portion of the building, they

were not able to be locked and therefore the store could not be sealed off

from the lodging portion. The store was a part of a building used for

lodging. Therefore, when McPherson broke into the store, which was part

of a building used for lodging, he was committing residential burglary. 

B. THE ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY STATUTE IS NOT
OVERBROAD BECAUSE IT DOES NOT CRIMINALIZE

SPEECH PROTECTED BY THE FIRST AMENDMENT. 

A statute is unconstitutionally overbroad if it infringes on

constitutionally protected speech or conduct. City of Seattle v. Huff, 111

Wn.2d 923, 925, 767 P. 3d 572 ( 1989), citing Thornhill v. Alabama, 310

U. S. 88, 97, 60 S. Ct. 736, 84 L. Ed. 1093 ( 1940). While a defendant may

not normally challenge a statute unless the defendant' s conduct falls

within the range of constitutionally protected conduct ( invalid as applied), 

a defendant may challenge a statute as overbroad even where the

defendant' s own conduct is not prohibited ( facially invalid) because prior

restraints on speech receive greater protection. State v. Pauling, 108 Wn. 

App. 445, 448, 31 P. 3d 47 ( 2001), reversed on other grounds, 149 Wn.2d

381, 69 P. 3d 331 ( 2003), citing Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U. S. 601, 

612, 93 S. Ct. 2908, 37 L. Ed. 2d 830 ( 1973). 

McPherson relies on Brandenburg v. Ohio, and it' s holding that

pursuant to constitutional guarantee of free speech the State may not
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forbid or proscribe advocacy of the use of force or of law violation except

where such advocacy is directed to inciting or producing imminent lawless

action and is likely to incite or produce such action." Brandenburg v. Ohio, 

395 U. S. 444, 447, 89 S. Ct. 1827, 23 L. Ed. 2d 430 ( 1969). McPherson

argues that the language "'[ w] ith knowledge that it will promote or

facilitate the commission of a crime. . , aids or agrees to aid [ another] 

person in planning or committing it "' criminalizes speech protected by the

First Amendment. Brief of Appellant 9 -10. 

McPherson particularly challenges the word " aid," especially as

defined by WPIC 10. 51, the jury instruction used in this case, " Aid" is

defined as follows: 

The word " aid" means all assistance whether given by
words, acts, encouragement, support, or presence. A

person who is present at the scene and ready to assist by
his or her presence is aiding in the commission of the
crime. However, more than mere presence and knowledge

of the criminal activity of another must be shown to
establish that a person present is an accomplice. 

WPIC 10. 51. RCW 9A.08. 020 indicates that a person is an accomplice if

with the knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the crime, the person

aids in planning or committing the crime. While aid can include

encouragement, mere encouragement alone is not enough. The person

giving encouragement must: 1) give the encouragement with the

knowledge that it will promote and facilitate the crime; and 2) the

encouragement must aid in planning our committing the crime. RCW

9A.08, 020. These restrictions mean that the accomplice liability statute
5



does not violate the standards established in Brandenburg. The language

of RCW 9A.08. 020 qualifies aid as advocacy that is likely to produce or

incite imminent lawless acts; this is not the kind of advocacy that is

protected in Brandenburg. 

The accomplice liability statue has been previously attacked as

being unconstitutionally overbroad. See State v. Ferguson, 164 Wn. App. 

370, 264 P. 3d 575 (2011); State v. Coleman 155 Wn. App. 951, 231 P. 3d

212 ( 2010). Coleman argued the exact same argument McPherson is

putting forward to this court, that the failure to limit or define the term aid

makes the statute, RCW 9A. 08.020, unconstitutionally overbroad

because it criminalizes constitutionally protected speech, press or

assembly activities that a person knows will encourage lawless behavior

but with no intent to further or promote a crime. Coleman, 155 Wn. App. 

at 960. The court held that the statute, RCW 9A.08. 020, 

requires the criminal mens rea to aid or agree to aid the

commission of a specific crime with knowledge the aid will

further the crime. Therefore by the statute' s text, its sweep
avoids protected speech activities that are not performed in

aid of a crime and that only consequentially further the
crime. 

Id. at 960 -61. Similarly, the court in Ferguson adopted the reasoning of

the court in Coleman, holding that the accomplice liability statute was not

overbroad. Ferguson, 164 Wn. App. at 376. The Ferguson court held, 

b] ecause the statute' s language forbids advocacy direct at and likely to

incite or produce imminent lawless action it[, RCW 9A.08.020( 3)( a),] does
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not forbid the mere advocacy of law violation that is protected under the

holding of Brandenburg." Id. 

III. CONCLUSION

Therefore, RCW 9A.08. 020 is not unconstitutionally overbroad and

jury instruction 13, as given to the jury, was proper. McPherson' s

conviction should be affirmed.